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FIVE WENT INTO THE WOODS. TWO NEVER CAME BACK.


Erin Sloane was sixteen when high school senior Andre Villiers was murdered by his friends. They were her friends, too, led by the intense, charismatic Ricky Hell. Five people went into West Cypress Woods the night Andre was murdered. Only three came out.


Ativan, alcohol and distance had dimmed Erin’s memories of that time. But nearly twenty years later, an ageing father will bring her home. Now a journalist, she is asked to write a story about the Southport Three and the thrill-kill murder that electrified the country. Erin’s investigation propels her closer and closer to a terrifying truth. And closer and closer to danger.









For my brother, who taught me all about cars before I was even
born; introduced me to AC/DC, horror movies, MTV, Jackie Collins
and punk rock, all while I was still in primary school











‘I really don’t know why it is that all of us are so committed to the sea, except I think it’s because in addition to the fact that the sea changes, and the light changes, and ships change, it’s because we all came from the sea. And it is an interesting biological fact that all of us have in our veins the exact same percentage of salt in our blood that exists in the ocean, and, therefore, we have salt in our blood, in our sweat, in our tears. We are tied to the ocean. And when we go back to the sea – whether it is to sail or to watch it – we are going back from whence we came.’


John F Kennedy












PROLOGUE


RESIDENT ALIEN


By Cormac O’Malley




Why me? Why him? I asked the darkness.


Well, hell, because it’s fun, the darkness answered.





At that moment, 31 October 1994, 11.11 pm, the darkness had six heads, twelve arms and twelve legs. The woods were all around, already knowing everything and swollen with our secrets.


You know that record Rumours, the one with the gaylord in tights on the cover that everyone’s parents have? Well, that’s how it all started. Someone said something to someone and someone’s mother heard it and then it’s all over the school, the PTA and later, the news: Satan worship, group sex, animal sacrifice.


West Cypress Road Woods have a soundtrack. In the daytime, it’s all Disney: hummingbirds and red-headed woodpeckers, the light footfall of deer. At night, the deep-bellied hoot of barn owls and nightjars and more sinister rustling deeper in the dark. There was an occasional homeless guy wandering through, kids parking, getting high, fooling around. Wildcats, you think; wolves, you imagine. Another layer of the soundtrack: the noises he made in the dark: gurgles, snorts, moans. Feet shuffling in dirt, the crunching of sticks under boots and canvas sneakers.


Steve said that he’d killed a bear not far from there. He claimed to be a hunter, but all he had for evidence was a bearskin rug that none of us wanted to go near, let alone sit on.


We told Andre we had something for him. It was the only way to get him there that night without arousing his suspicion. Andre knew something was up – he was sweating, his eyes were unfocused and he kept licking his lips and pumping his fist. Still, he came without a fight, slapping a mosquito and drinking a beer too fast, humming what sounded like ‘You Gotta Fight for Your Right’.


Death’s a lottery, Ricky Hell once said. Now Andre’s number was up, everyone agreed. That’s why he was smiling, Danny said. He compared Andre to a white cat: blond as a mouse and blind as a bat. It explained his resting aggression – natural disadvantages that made him both overly willing to please, but also extremely aggressive. He wheezed from asthma and wore contacts most days, but sometimes tinted glasses. He had a pear-shaped, near womanly body, and he almost always smelled like beer and plant matter; something botanical, earthy, rank.


I see it in a movie montage: faces, feet and hands; kicking, breaking. The crack in his expression where he knows what’s going to happen and he seems less afraid and even a little sad.


I rewind the tape, the bit where the reel is warped and baggy with wear, the break in Andre’s voice. Why me?


You heard it all and you saw and you saw.


The worst bit is remembering before, the bits you can remember.


At Wendy’s near the highway, all sharing the same Frosty and French fries in the back booth, before getting kicked out by some junior manager. Danny making devil horns and singing along in that deep growl of his, ‘blood will rain down’. Carole, still in her Dairy Queen uniform, smelling like Windex and sugar. Carole, grabbing you by your denim jacket, running her fingers down all the badges, like she was ticking boxes – yes, correct. Megadeth. Slayer. Metallica. The Crue. Tick, tick, tick. Getting high in the parking lot in the tray of the short-bed Chevy, with the tarp covering us, Hellhammer turned up so loud it was shaking the truck, and the smell of dope and menthols and Carole’s lip balm. Smiling at each other. This little moment of belonging before everything breaks.


You didn’t do it, did you? You just saw and you saw and you saw.


Some nights it knocks you out and you’re on the ground, tasting blood, hands over your ears; yours, his, you don’t even know. You don’t know what you saw.


You don’t even know if you made this all up. The same way you didn’t feel real while you were in America. Whatever happened there feels like an MTV video clip, but one you keep editing and editing and then, in the final cut, Andre gets up and walks away.
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10 SEPTEMBER 2010


WHEN MY FATHER WAS WORKING A CASE, HE USED TO SAY HE was going underwater – a case had him by the leg, and sometimes, both legs at once. When he wasn’t underwater, Raymond Paul Sloane, or RP to those unlucky enough to know him, taught me facts: the etymology of place names on the island; the lifecycle of lakes and canals, the meaning of the word archipelago, that my name, Erin, means ‘from the island to the west’. I learned that deep water is dangerous. Not only could a person drown, but it’s a well-known phenomenon that rescuers drown alongside them. So, I tried to stay away from drowning men, but it was a lesson that never stuck.


Although RP had quit undercover work when I was in grade school, he was a phantom parent; an unclaimed seat at the dinner table, an empty chair beside my mom at school recitals. The only proof of his corporeality were the empty cans of Rolling Rock lined up on the coffee table, a TV set left on, a toilet seat in the up position.


Try as I might to resist turning into someone like him, I was spending most of my recent days in a liquid fugue, only I wasn’t an investigator – I wasn’t even much of a journalist anymore, except when I was writing for a glossy monthly magazine supplement called Inside Island. Long-form crime features that you could sort of sink your teeth into. Mostly I was at coffee shops, the kitchen counter or bars until happy hour, churning out numbing copy for real estate agents, insurance companies, even school newsletters. I rotated bars in and around Suffolk county, largely sports bars around Massapequa with names like Paddy Power, careful to avoid being a regular anywhere. Life had become an ellipsis between the decade-long mistake of my twenties and the life I wanted.


It was duty that brought me back to the island. Months ago, I’d given up my apartment and my life in Brooklyn to care for RP, moving into his split-level bungalow on Oceanside Avenue. There were only three suburbs between Massapequa and Southport, a thirty-minute drive dependent on traffic, but they acted as a kind of geographical and psychic buffer between my past, which after all these years was almost like a lucid dream, an intense hallucination I could put down to youthful excess, if it hadn’t left so many physical scars.


Denise, my editor from Inside Island, must have smelled my desperation, the animal ambition, underneath my all-day antiperspirant and the Dior Poison that I had been wearing since the nineties, because she was promising me a big story – something substantial. It was something close to hunger that resurrected me that morning and drove me, still half-drunk, to the Lyrebird Café in Rockville Centre to meet her. I wanted to become a ‘lifer’ – a guaranteed full-time gig with Inside Island.


Even though the fastest route from Massapequa was the Southern State Parkway, my GPS told me there was an accident on Exit 37N, which meant I had to drive down Southport Avenue, past the train station that was just blocks away from Roosevelt High, my old high school.


At the lights, I looked out at the now fenced-off Old Res, as locals called it, a dried-up catchment filled with old soda and beer cans, scrap metal and, according to the adults, hepatitis. Aside from some new fencing and a different billboard (the old one had featured the obese man who got skinny on Subway holding his old fat pants, grinning), it looked the same. The Res backed onto Southport Station. I was surprised the place was still there. In freshman year, a classmate of mine, Linda Bauer, was dismembered from below the armpit to the groin, while clambering up an embankment onto the track, wasted on wine coolers. All the local papers, the floral tributes, acrostic poems that enshrined her picture – L is for lovely, I is for inspired and so on – forgot that she was N for nasty, D for diabolical and A for autocratic. Her death became an urban legend, just one of many in a community that felt like a sociocultural cul-de-sac.


I used to think that I’d escaped Southport, but as I got older I realised that I’d simply absorbed the town into my system, like when I ate a nickel as a kid and never saw it re-emerge. Southport had become a part of my intimate geography, ingrained and shadowy. Near my heart: the library, where I hid and read Les Misérables until the German librarian kicked me out. Near my spleen: the Waldbaum’s where I was busted for shoplifting. Take a right and you’ll hit my liver, the nightclub Escapades, where I took my first drink, seriously underage. Over there by the gloomy underpass to Southport train station, my stomach, where I threw up the drinks, somehow glittery and foamy like I’d ingested a snow globe.


And yet all these parts that I’m showing you, all these were not the worst parts, not by a long shot.


I took out half an Ativan from my purse and swallowed it dry. I popped an Adderall and an orange Tic Tac and then spritzed a Frankincense-heavy space-clearing spray all over me that I’d got as a stocking stuffer at Inside Island’s Christmas party. I suspected it was from Denise.


It was 11.11 am when I found the Lyrebird Café; I was either four minutes early or eleven minutes late, I honestly couldn’t remember. Denise was a friend and she wouldn’t sweat it – she was already in a booth drinking a cappuccino. I noted her little bottle of Sweet’N Low on the Formica table. Denise wasn’t too much older than me, but she was literally twice my size. She styled herself in vintage dresses and wore her weight like an expertly tailored power suit – it wasn’t just armour, it made her difficult to ignore; allowed her to break down doors.


If I’d learned anything about life, it was that you need padding; Denise had figured this out.


‘Erin. It is so good to see you,’ Denise enthused. ‘Sit. You look svelte.’ She meant drawn, but was being polite. I shrugged in response and we smiled at each other.


A waitress with swallow and star tattoos on her neck took my order. The Lyrebird was what Denise might call ‘hyperlocal’ – a concept she’d applied to the magazine to make it into a lifestyle magazine: the artisan ice-cream, loft conversions and suburb profiles and, of course, tasteful gore were selling. In the aftermath of the GFC, Inside Island was not only still in print, it was glossier than ever.


I took my coat off; my face felt flushed. I caught a glimpse of myself in the mirror and winced. While at thirty-two my face was still unlined, I had lost some of that apple-cheeked youthfulness and my skin had taken on a slightly sallow tone. My lips were desiccated. I was a ghost in an old coat; in this case, one that had belonged to my mother, which still had the dry-cleaning receipt pinned to it from 1993.


‘How’s everything? How’s RP?’


‘He’s dying and he’s really pissed. The house goes on the market in October.’


There was no way to sugar-coat it. If you’d met my father when he was younger, you’d know that it wasn’t the Alzheimer’s that had damaged the part of his brain that controlled empathy and basic human kindness, but he was especially miserable in care and verbally abused me when I visited.


My main goal was to keep him out of the state facilities. I toured one and the infernal moaning and occasional scream in various dialects, the smell of piss and shit mingling with disinfectant, was enough to make me write a living will.


‘Sounds hard.’ Denise drove her hands across the table to touch mine. It was like they were warm liquid and my hands were a pile of autumn leaves.


‘Thanks.’


We’d worked together for a few years and she’d persisted in inviting me out for weekend brunch, evening drinks, afternoon coffee; I knew she liked me, and it was mutual, but I continued to hold her at a gracious distance. Denise was too canny, too intuitive – too warm. She would melt me.


My cappuccino and cake arrived. I couldn’t really attempt the cake, so I sipped the lukewarm milky coffee, wishing I’d ordered an Americano. The Ativan had softened the edges of the morning, the lights in the café taking on a romantic glow, but the Adderall was making me drum my fingers on the counter.


‘Erin, I’ll get straight to the point. I’ve got a story for you. It’s short notice for a feature like this, we were going to cover the Bethpage baby beauty pageant scandal, but we’ve had to scrap it.’ Denise leaned forward in her seat. I leaned in automatically, mirroring her – she’d lowered her volume, but her excitement couldn’t be muted.


‘This story – it got emailed to me by some true-crime nut, who actually put your name forward, and even though a few supps writers have tried to claim it, I want you to have it. You’ve heard of the Southport Three, right?’ She said it like you would a punch line. ‘In 1994, a high school senior called Andre Villiers was murdered by his group of friends in Southport, Nassau County . . .’


1994. I was sixteen. Words whispered to me by a boy, that I cannot forget, even if I tried to forget the rest: ‘While in the wild wood I did lie, A child – with the most knowing eye.’


‘Maybe? Was it something occult and like, very stabby and violent?’ Instead of sounding vague, I’m sure I sounded high, which I was. I could wear my buzz with the best of them, but the truth of the matter was, deception was not my forte. It was my father’s. It was one of the reasons I chose not to be a cop like him. That and I was never going to pass a physical.


‘No to stabby, yes to occult, and hell yes to very violent. It was sixteen years ago, on Halloween, and a satanic murder. You’re from Southport, right, Erin? Were you, like, upstate or under a rock or something at the time?’


‘Under a rock,’ I managed.


‘You must have at least been permanently stoned at the time because it was a huge story.’ Denise ran with the pun.


‘I was in Maine. Aunt Marnie didn’t believe in TV.’ I didn’t mention that I was tucked up in a white guest room with excellent linen, like an overmedicated and temporarily compliant injured bird. By the time I returned to New York, post breakdown, it was 1997 and the buzz had died out.


‘Well, it was huge. A very photogenic Satanist by the name of Ricky Hell was the ringleader. He was shot dead on the scene, which was a major bummer, because he was like a star on the cover of Rolling Stone magazine – kind of a nineties Charlie Manson, but better looking. It’s a very sexy case: think Satanism, celebrity lawyers, Geraldo Rivera, an essay in the New Yorker, opinion pieces about youth violence, drugs, video games, apathy, blah blah blah.’


She slid her iPad across the table – it was cued to a true crime TV series called Child’s Play: Kiddie killers. Klassy. The episode was titled ‘The Devil came to Southport: Ricky Hell and the satanic teen thrill-kill murder of Andre Villiers’.


A beady-eyed man in a nylon suit and oversized spectacles, wearing a beige, old-school trench wandered around a wooded area. I recognised those woods – a mile from the Old Res. He reached a clearing, ‘the spot’, we called it – a ring of stumps that sat like makeshift bar stools; old beer cans and cigarettes, candy wrappers and empty baggies littering the forest floor.


Denise provided me with a voiceover:


‘Andre Villiers was eighteen when he was murdered, same age as Ricky Hell and nearly two years older than Carole Jenkins and Cormac O’Malley. Danny Quinlan-Walsh was seventeen, so he was placed in a secure facility in Westchester, a slap on the wrist, really. This is the only interview he gave, right before he went nuts and his lawyer told him to stop talking to the press.’


Oh, I remembered. I didn’t have the luxury of traumatic amnesia, and the pills I took only wiped out my short-term memory – receipts for impulse purchases I couldn’t recall making, packages that appeared at my door, dinners left on the stove. But I remembered all right.


‘I’ll fast forward to the interview with him.’ Denise moved the cursor to 13:13. She sat watching me expectantly.


Danny in a starched Gap shirt; the hot WASP next door, with his long blond hair pulled into a neat ponytail. He looked like he was going to junior prom and not a murder trial, except for the part where he held Satan’s horns above his head for one of the reporters. This became an iconic image in 1994. There was a constellation of zits on Danny’s usually unblemished face: prison food. Despite that, he was healthy and strapping, a milk-fed, well-nourished middle-class teenager. I heard Danny’s unreconstructed Long Island accent for the first time in sixteen years:




I mean, I just don’t know how it happened, man. Ricky had a plan and we just did it. He changed form once we got there. We all did. And then it, like, started, and we couldn’t stop. There was no stopping. Ricky, he, like, flew up and at the cop like a freakin’ crow, and the cop, like, shot him, like: bang, bang, bang and Ricky was shouting: ‘Pray for us, Pray for Satan.’ And then it was just, game over.





‘Game over,’ Denise repeated. ‘Like Mario Brothers or something.’ You could hear the silent ‘tsk tsk’ of reprimand that followed, but I knew she was thrilled. For someone with a little Zen garden on her desk and an out-of-office email signature that read Namaste, Denise liked true crime and, what’s more, she liked gore. Throw in a murdered kid or a killer kid – or better yet, killer kids – and Denise was one happy editor.


Listening to Danny now, I realised that it wasn’t a voice numbed by fin de siècle apathy; in fact, his voice crackled with emotion. I wouldn’t call it remorse, but disbelief.


The DA remained unconvinced. So was I.


‘But for Danny Walsh, it was indeed, game over,’ the narrator intoned. ‘The church-going quarterback was sentenced to fifteen years in a maximum-security Westchester County facility for the criminally insane.’


Next, a collage of photos of Danny Quinlan-Walsh on the family boat, having lunch with his family. I was there that day; I remember Danny turning his unchristian Megadeth t-shirt inside out for the family photograph, so it was just plain black. Another photo: a sophomore dance photograph and I’m in it – even if my face is blacked out and all you can see of me is my clinging cherry-red velvet dress. His hands around my waist are the size of mallets.


Danny Quinlan-Walsh. The memory of him was like the skin of milk at the top of the bottle, the cream of youth: the smell of clean sweat, menthol cigarettes, double-mint gum. The taste of my own blood. The taste of Danny was in my mouth and I had to remove it. I swallowed my frothy coffee. I gulped down water. Denise watched me with naked curiosity, fluffing her hair up.


‘It’s cheesy, but you ought to watch it when you get home.’ Denise pressed pause. ‘After he’d served five years, his sentence was reduced to six years because of diminished capacity and good behaviour. He was twenty-two years old on release, has never done an interview since. Carole Jenkins served three years in a juvenile facility. Same with her boyfriend, Cormac O’Malley. She wrote a book, Dancing with the Devil: How I survived a satanic teen murder. I’ve bought a copy from AbeBooks. Already on its way to you via FedEx. It was out of print; came out in ’98, but by then the buzz around the case died down a bit. There were other crimes on the Island that took over.’ They were mainly gun crimes: a sign of the times. A mass shooting on the train; a sniper at my old school, Roosevelt High, who only killed one person, but wounded many. They introduced metal detectors after that.


I remembered that Cormac O’Malley, Carole’s semi-permanent boyfriend, had been in my art class, but not much else. I thought about digging up my old yearbooks – except, of course, I’d burned them.


‘There’s a lot of innuendo surrounding the cop from Queens who shot Ricky Hell. A narco cop called Steve Shearer. Your dad was a cop, right? Did he know him?’ Denise scanned me with scientific interest.


Hearing the name Steve Shearer was the mental equivalent of someone running a rusty knife down my spine. I remembered the name. I didn’t want to.


‘He knew of him.’


‘He was Cormac O’Malley’s stepfather. He said Ricky Hell was resisting arrest and he aimed for his shoulder but missed, hitting the heart. Despite this injury, Hell continued to resist and was shot in the face. An investigation revealed that it was a fair and lawful shooting – reasonable as opposed to deadly force. Ricky Hell obviously wasn’t around to dispute his role as ringleader. He was on hallucinogenic drugs, he was a drug pusher, a Hispanic in an all-white area, and he’d brained a white kid. There are rumours Shearer had a personal history with Hell but no one investigated the connection further.’ Denise rolled her eyes. ‘And Andre Villiers – I mean, he simply doesn’t feature in any of this. His parents were Jehovah’s Witnesses, I think, and he was in trouble with the law constantly. They condemned him, their own son. A meaningless death and then he sunk, like, without a trace.’


Andre, the victim, was as one-dimensional and unsympathetic in his death as he was in life. It was the only thing about the case that ever made any sense.


‘And Villiers had also been questioned by local police over a missing kid.’ The jangle of Denise’s charm bracelet seemed impossibly loud as she delivered this almost triumphantly. Denise loved missing kids.


I placed my palm on my solar plexus. Breathe. My heart was in my throat. I tried to swallow some of the cake, but it was gritty and a little stale. ‘Which missing kid?’


It turns out a town like Southport yielded a high volume of creeps per square mile – three kids from Southport went missing, two were found on Jones Beach in shallow graves.


‘Cathy Carver. Know about her? Young blonde girl, missing presumed dead since late 1993. The whole case had a touch of the JonBenét about it.’


I nodded. ‘My little sister Michelle was in her sixth-grade class. They were friends.’


Cathy disappeared in October 1993, just months before Mom and Shelly died. She had never been found. I adjusted my scarf and tried to appear cool as I looked up to meet Denise’s laser stare. She could see through a person; easily sniff out a lie from a text or an email, had a kind of instinct that bordered on precognition. I could tell she wanted more, but she knew that I was stubborn and secretive enough not push the point.


‘Wow. That’s a crazy coincidence. Was Villiers really a suspect, I wonder? And if so, what about the other kids who went missing on the island? Weren’t there a few?’


There were. During the nineties, children weren’t allowed to walk or ride to school. Security systems became more sophisticated. The crimes changed the entire energy of the suburb. Wealthier families – and there were many, particularly on and around the water – hired extra help.


‘Jason Weis went missing before Cathy, in like ’92, but the other boy was later, like 2000, 2001. I think it’s a serial killer type thing, so . . .’


‘No, not Andre,’ Denise agreed. ‘So back to Satan allegedly compelling kids to kill in the woods in Southport. I mean, I know you – it’s got your name all over it.’


If she only knew.


All the pieces I had written for Inside Island were conversational, informative true-crime stories that engaged with local cultural history and pop culture. I had two unspoken rules: I shied away from homicides, unless they were seriously historical, and I stayed the hell away from my old stamping ground. Now, Denise wanted me to break both rules.


While I had followed the developments in the abductions – leads mentioned in the newspapers always turned out to be dead ends – I had never researched, never even googled anything relating the ill-fated events of the past, the Southport Three and what happened that night in 1994. I never tried to locate old classmates or friends. I knew at the time that none of Andre’s family had spoken to the press (nor had Ricky’s) and that the public largely believed Ricky murdered Andre as a sacrifice to Satan. Someone had told me years ago about Carole’s book. I’d never read it. Denise moved in for the kill – flattering my writerly ego.


‘You grew up there, on the outside looking in. That’s why you write the island so brilliantly. You’re the only one who could write this story. I mean, you’re getting a following. This will cement your reputation as the Ann Rule of Inside Island.’


I long had an atavistic knowledge that the past was not going to stay contained forever, but it had managed to sit there, mostly undisturbed, for sixteen years. Now I realised, Southport had been coming for me all this time.
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I FOUND MYSELF BACK IN MY GUN-METAL GREY CHRYSLER LeBaron on autopilot to Roosevelt Field Mall in Garden City. I could have easily gone to the Barnes and Noble in Westbury to buy a new notebook, per my private ritual – new story, new notebook. This was not only a detour, but also my first return to Roosevelt Field Mall since ’94.


As soon as I sighted the parking lot, I knew I’d made a mistake. Dread knotted my stomach, my palms began to sweat; even my feet seemed to perspire. I had forgotten how gargantuan the building was – it was the second largest mall in the state and spanned two storeys, plus a concourse level. The directory indicated new additions and excisions of older chain stores.


In the nineties, Roosevelt Field Mall was like an airport and a destination in its own right – a kind of small, insulated country, where kids of all races co-mingled. It was also a coliseum; an arena where commerce and class lines blurred in what was otherwise a very segregated white-bread part of the island. There were people packing guns. There were record and bookstores, providing portals out of Southport, and the island itself; a jungle of hormones and subcultures seething and sedated by bright strip lighting and R&B auto-tune muzak.


I exited the car and walked a half-mile from the parking lot to the entrance. I barely made it through the automated doors, which opened onto a Hannigan’s family restaurant.


It was next to the cigarette machine at this Hannigan’s that I reached first base with Danny – but more memorably, it was adjacent to the Burger King where I first met Ricky, who seemed to be getting to third with Carole Jenkins, his hand jammed halfway up her denim cut-offs as she perched, near catatonic, on his knee. Ricky, solemn and black-clad, opened his mouth to accept the occasional greasy spiral onion ring she offered, like she was feeding a depressed crow.


I recall him sitting on a backless swivel stool; his posture was poor. It occurred to me that he didn’t know how to carry his height, but later I would learn that he had a problem with his back from a car wreck and he was sometimes hunched out of pain. He barely registered me, as his glassy eyes went straight to the book I had just shoplifted from the very same Barnes and Noble I was heading to now. It was a small book of poems by Edgar Allan Poe from the Great American Poet series. Ricky shifted Carole off his lap and seized the book, reading aloud while I squirmed with embarrassment: ‘It was night in the lonesome October, Of my most immemorial year.’


The press only got hold of a few photos of the brooding, sneering teenage Ricky, with his cut-glass cheek bones and black eyes. In one, he’s in a tux at a family wedding, where he looks more like an Aztec king about to attend a sacrifice, his fleshy lips pursed in a scowl of moral disobedience, displaying extremely white teeth lined up like tombstones. When I got to know him, I found out that despite conscientious brushing, the perfect veneer disguised a mouth of eroded enamel, molars riddled with painful holes and craters.


That day at the Burger King the white tops of his black eyes were showing and vicious acne scars marred his vaulting cheekbones. His AC/DC t-shirt read ‘Thunderstruck’. (After lightning strikes, lights up the sky, residue will fall. Fulgurite, they call it). Arrow, meet heart.


‘“Ulalume”, huh?’ He read the title as if tasting it. Then he looked at me. It was not my heart that took the hit, but somewhere lower: the gut – the small intestine even.


‘Gay,’ Danny sighed.


‘These were days when my heart was volcanic,’ Ricky quoted. ‘Brutal assault,’ he added, nodding at me in approval. There was a white-blond figure behind him, wearing an army greatcoat and tinted John Lennon shades, holding a super-sized milkshake that appeared doll-sized in his giant hand: Andre Villiers. He could have been Ricky’s astral body – a phantom, a ghost.


Within a year, both boys would be dead.


I WALKED ON, tapping my solar plexus and temple, trying to regulate my breathing. Despite much of retail going online, it seemed shopping at the mall was still a regular competitive sport. Although it was a mid-week lunchtime, teens on free periods or simply cutting class roamed in packs and pairs, wearing colourful puffer jackets and signature white Apple headphones. The gaggle of ye olde 1990s gum-cracking girls and braying boys in their baggy pants, which once clotted the arteries of the mall and beached themselves on the benches lining the concourse, had been replaced with kids who looked so professionally groomed and stylised, they resembled extras from a music video set who were playing misbehaving teenagers. I watched as they clowned and pouted in front of their smartphones. Some made out, some made war, draped on each other and vaping.


I found my way into the Barnes and Noble, scanning the aisles, walking through the new releases into the literature and stationery section.


I decided upon a hardcover notebook: candy striped along the spine, seaside themed, high Americana. Small painted figurines waved from the shore; a boy chased a spotted dog. A diner advertised chowder. A seagull crested a lighthouse. This was the kind of idyllic New England I had dreamed of growing up in. The notebook was almost too pretty to write in, let alone depict a satanic thrill-kill murder that had haunted my life to date, but part of me relished the irony – the other part longed to escape into its landscape.


I paid the cashier and headed west to the exit. When I made it into the parking lot, I sat in my car with my purchase and lit a cigarette, taking deep breaths. Making lists normally soothed me; writing distanced me from emotion.


I wrote down the date, 31 October 1994; the story’s anchor, my gateway to the past. The murder happened on Halloween. Yep – Halloween. Imagine how much the media loved that shit. RP moved us to Amityville in early ’94 and had taken me out of Roosevelt High and into an all-girl Catholic institution called St Mary’s. The night Ricky Hell was shot and died in the dirt, I was on the cool bathroom tiles in a twilight state of consciousness, under the impression he’d ditched me. I was drunk on grief, rage and cheap vodka, plus I’d taken a few pain pills. I was listening to ‘Anything Anything’, a song by an eighties band called Dramarama, on repeat. Rewind and listen. Rewind and listen. I was taken to the hospital later the next day with severe alcohol poisoning.


Now in the car, I wrote my title:




Satan in the Suburbs: the Southport Three and the making of a satanic teen thrill-kill murder







Follow-up:


1)Interview the Southport Three


2)Steve Shearer – look at arrest history/rep with narco cops; track down Ricky Hell’s family; locate records of dealing/arrest sheet/juvie offences


3)Similar cases of minority kids being shot/satanic murders etc.


4)Andre Villiers (talk to living relatives) – victim profile, interest in Satanism and occult – and police interview re: Cathy Carver.





Panic hummed around me in the car. The writing wasn’t helping this time – the drone of the radio, the sound of my jagged breathing. I winced as the radio announcer brayed that it was Flashback Friday! and the monotonous stream of Billy Joel’s ‘We Didn’t Start the Fire’ commenced. I switched the radio off.


There were rumours surrounding Andre. Very loud whispers that suggested he liked to harass and sometimes hurt girls, that he liked it rough, that his favourite kind of girl was young – extremely young. Before he died, I’d heard that he’d been questioned over Cathy Carver’s disappearance, but I must have blocked it out. Why else would I forget something so significant? Cathy had been my sister’s friend. Her disappearance had been a huge deal. And only months later, my sister died.


So, thinking of Andre Villiers as a victim, I experienced a genuine episode of cognitive dissonance.


My father had seen multiple violent deaths, and as a rookie reporter I had reported on homicides so vile, I still struggled to process the details. My father’s adage was this: no one deserves to be murdered, but some people were seriously asking for it. And over the last few years I had come to conclude that he was right. Andre was one of those people.


One time, we were in the back seat of Danny’s car, a skunk fug around us, when Andre ‘joke-choked’ me. I don’t recall where the others were, all I know is only he and I remained in the vehicle. One minute we were talking, smoking; the next, ‘Auto-erotic’ by local metal band Hellbound came on, the lead singer death-growling:




Wrap my hands around your throat,


My engine starts, at your death choke





It seemed like play: his lanolin- and weed-scented hands (not the hands of a gardener, but the hands of a gamer or someone chore-adverse) were on my neck, enacting the song’s lyrics – perhaps even posturing to be sexy. Guys hurt you as flirtation back then, maybe they still do. Something very serious passed over his face; like a cloud had moved over the car. My instincts screamed that something terrible was happening. What did his eyes look like? Rumour had it he wore tinted contacts – they were pale blue and I could read nothing in them at all. I thought of The Terminator movie afterwards, because it seemed that whatever was happening was at once mechanical and dangerous. Finally, my fist went out and connected with his gut and it was like hitting Jell-O, which immediately firmed.


This took place in all of ten seconds; maximum fifteen.


He laughed it off and I joined him, after cursing him out first. I even stayed to smoke a cigarette. Then I left and sobbed into the bushes.


There were finger bruises around my neck that lasted for a week; bruises that were hidden by my mom’s old arsenal of concealers and foundations. I knew not to revert to turtlenecks and scarves, because my friends, RP and Danny would assume I was concealing hickeys.


Why did I stay? How could I have laughed it off? I guess I didn’t want to be the ‘crazy bitch’ who made trouble. I made sure not to be alone with Andre again and the occasion was forgotten. But nothing ever is, not really.


Now I felt the ghostly memory of his soft hands around my neck.


WHAT DENISE HAD said had hit home to me. Andre’s murder was what the cops called ‘classically’ motiveless – a relatively unplanned, haphazard sacrifice to Satan. The whole point of the murders was that there was no point. The crime was one of nineties nihilism: heavy metal, drugs, disaffected youth. And Ricky Hell had both a rep and a rap sheet for dealing drugs. He was a disenfranchised minority; he and his sister grew up in foster homes and suffered physical and psychological abuse. Ricky, who put a cup over roaches and took them outside – a boy who had attended every one of his sister’s dance recitals, who told me he had shed silent tears at the end of Beauty and the Beast – was not the descendent of an Aztec king, the son of Colombian drug lord, nor could he shapeshift. Whatever story the media and the police co-authored was pure fantasy, fed by a buzz of gossip that surrounded Ricky. It had multiple chapters missing – not just the finale with the narco cop bringing down a satanic killer in the woods, but entire sections of that night. I always suspected it was Danny who incited and executed the attack on Andre – because I had seen the violence Danny was capable of. Satan had nothing to do with it. On the flipside, I could never see Ricky Hell crouched in the dirt, holding a bat streaked with fragments of blood and bone.


Now Denise positing that Andre – ‘Andre the Giant’ the kids called him, he was 6’3 – was a predator provided the kids with a motive and, yes, a reason to kill (no, not an excuse).


I dialled Denise’s cell. She sniffed out my trepidation at hello.


‘What’s going on, Erin?’ Her tone was a bit severe. ‘Don’t tell me you’re having second thoughts? I’ve just crushed three writers who are due a cover story. I might even have to take one out for margaritas later.’


‘I’m not.’ I lit another cigarette. Another bad new-old habit that had returned since I moved to Oceanside Avenue. ‘It worries me that it might be just a bit too close to home,’ I admitted. Talk about an understatement: here I was ripping off a psychic bandaid over a wound that had been inflicted in ’94 and had infected my whole life, and I was doing it for a magazine story. ‘There’s something I didn’t mention. I knew those kids. I more than knew them.


‘I told you I went to an all-girls high school called St Mary’s in Massapequa, right? Well, before that I went to Roosevelt High. I hung out with the metal kids and did breakfast bongs. My nickname was Eerie Erin.’


Denise sucked in a breath. ‘Go on.’


‘Danny Quinlan-Walsh was my first boyfriend. And I knew Ricky Hell. Biblically speaking. When the murder happened, I’d already changed schools and I wasn’t hanging out with the gang as much, but I was still officially dating Danny.’


‘Wow. Okay. This is big. This personal angle, it’s just so perfect. We could dig out your high school diaries, notes Danny wrote you in class . . .’


‘Mm, unlikely,’ I managed. Not only was everything burnt in a bonfire of my making, those notes were more like voodoo offerings: DIE WHORE written on the mirror in blood; a beanie baby with a noose around its neck.


‘Did Ricky Hell confide in you? More importantly, was he really a Satanist?’


I swallowed, thinking of his brown callused hands and forearms, dotted with oil burns from being a short order cook. Kissing him and smelling oil and despair and fear reeking from his every pore. He even trembled in his sleep.


‘All that Satan stuff was just Ricky posing; you know, acting out. Like teenagers do. Especially troubled ones. Even if the others were privileged. It was all bad sex, worse drugs and heavy metal music, as far as I saw it.’


‘There’s obviously no talking to Ricky now, but given your history, you could get to Danny Quinlan-Walsh, make him go on the record,’ Denise continued. ‘Maybe even the Villiers family would talk to you? If you work this personal history to your favour, it’s gonna be your magnum opus.’


My hands flew to my neck as if by instinct. I still couldn’t say what I knew about Andre.


‘Maybe I’m, like, already too much in the story, so to speak,’ I managed.


‘You’re an ex metalhead misfit who made it out of Southport to tell the tale – Erin, you are the story. You are Satanism in the suburbs. Embrace it. Don’t fuck this up and I promise you’ll be a lifer at the end. If you file by 18 October, we’ll go to print on 28 October. The Halloween edition again.’


Barring Christmas Eve and the 8th of October – the date Danny and I had our last encounter – Halloween was one of the most traumatic anniversaries in my extensive back catalogue. It was Ricky Hell’s Death-versary. At the time, I’d hated him. I’d cursed him. I wanted something terrible to happen to him and it did. Recently I’d heard Ricky’s voice in my ear. Sharp, like he was trying to get my attention. Eerie! Ricky was the only one who called me that. It had been sixteen years since I’d seen him; lost him. And now I was going to relive it all again; unfurl the tangle of feelings I had for Ricky. (These were days when my heart was volcanic.)


Danny Quinlan-Walsh, my alleged ‘first love’, and I had never spoken since the night that Ricky Hell died, the very same night I had buried all my feelings, which were now in the process of being exhumed. But as for Danny, I did a quick body scan and found I still really had none. I decided to start with him.
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IT TOOK ALL OF FIVE MINUTES TO FIND HIM. DANNY Quinlan-Walsh didn’t have a Facebook or a Twitter account, but he was on LinkedIn. He was living on the island, managing his dad’s boat storeroom in Southport. The Quinlan-Walshes, who were technically loaded, had lived waterfront on Bluebottle Way. I went out on the boat with them a few times and could see the appeal of life on the water. There was a quiet sense of otherworldliness; of being the only people out at sea.


To get to Prestige Marine Storeroom, the family business, I had to drive through parts of Southport that I hadn’t revisited in sixteen years.


My appearance attracted a few stares. No one drove a second-hand car in Southport. My tailpipe leaked exhaust and my bumper was held together by rust. All the dimensions of the town seemed off – it was as if the buildings had shrunk in height, or the sky had become larger. It was azure blue and cloudless – and despite the changing season, a nearly too-warm, summer bright day.


I passed the old Waldbaum’s, which had been bulldozed, a Gap outlet in its place, then Lake Angonjwin, which was also adjacent to Whitman Elementary School. Most people just called Lake Angonjwin ‘Whitman’s Lake’. Cathy Carver had lived opposite the lake, in a triple-tiered navy blue and ivory Dutch colonial mansion that resembled a very large and grand version of a dollhouse I had as a little girl, except her house had a fire-engine red front door.


I reached the breach between streets, where the Sound divided the suburb of Southport. Behind the corrugated iron fence, you could study the exteriors of luxury houses and their personal marinas, where their boats were docked. Pitch pines seemed to pierce the cloudless sky, which was the same perfect blue as the Sound.


Danny’s family lived alongside the wealthier Southport residents and Prestige Marine. Turning onto Lake Drive would take me back to my first childhood home, which was significantly more modest than the Carver’s lakeside mansion. It was on an oak-lined street that I hadn’t visited since the night Mom and Shelly died: Christmas Eve, 1993. Winter.


I looked out at the Sound, the sunlight hitting the water in the distance. It was so blindingly bright and warm, but still, stupidly I wondered if it was snowing outside. It made me think my memory was like a snow globe – over the years, Southport had become miniaturised, shrunk and trapped into a microuniverse. Now, I’d tipped it to one side and the snow cascaded. It was like I was ice skating through time and trauma.


On impulse, I took Lake Drive and by the time I reached our old street, Helen Lane, I was feeling as I did when I was waiting for my SAT results; a sense of dread mingled with excitement. I idled outside 1100, straining to make sure the number was correct, mentally counting the houses, studying my neighbours’ properties, which all looked the same – homogeneous, pre-planned and mass produced. I had been expecting to see our single-storied modest bungalow, with its thatched wood exterior and clogged gutters. I recalled the wrought-iron bench out the front, the artfully arranged pot of geraniums placed next to a Guatemalan welcome mat that my mom bought in the city, its colours and weave faded by a thousand entries and exits. I thought of tripping over Shelly’s rollerblades in the hallway, screaming her name as I fell through the doorway hours after curfew, my mom in her blue terry-towelling bathrobe with the red wine stains, looking grim and disappointed.


But it was all gone. Like an old tooth, it had been yanked out and remodelled, and only the garden remained. The current house was all sleek lines and display windows, rendered in silver cloud, with two ivory columns at the entrance. Inside, I was sure there would be skylights and white walls adorned with crappy modern art. I thought of the police tape and the way the emergency service lights had made silent patterns on the front of our house; a surreal lightshow. An inaudible aftermath to the equally silent tragedy.


I drove back to Lake Drive and parked for a minute at the lake. This ill-advised little scenic route down memory lane had shaken me up quite viscerally; I needed to collect myself before I faced Danny.


I got out of the car and lit a cigarette. Despite the movement of the waterfowl on the water, a young mom with a stroller alongside another woman who looked like her mom, and the subtle drone of a lawnmower, it was as if Southport itself was static and somehow soundless. While the day was deceptively bright and clear, there was ice in the air. There was a sense of total stillness as I walked the path, a glorious sheen on Lake Angonjwin. I could almost crack the image, like a spoon breaking a hardboiled egg.


I returned to the car and drove on autopilot the rest of the way to Danny’s workplace. Then it occurred to me; the night that my mom and Shelly died perhaps wasn’t all that silent – I’d ruptured my eardrum. It had caused temporary deafness and intermittent ringing in my ears for days – and extreme vertigo. The world had tipped on its side. And the night they died, it had started to snow.


I BARELY RECALLED Prestige Marine from my teenage years, but from the looks of the empty parking lot, it wasn’t doing well. Maybe it was just off season – perhaps rich people made after hours’ appointments. Either way, I was buzzed through instantly by a heavy-set guy dressed in Hugo Boss but with a novelty tie. He was in his late twenties, blond like Danny, but with no bone structure to speak of. He didn’t even ask my name, just started in on his sales pitch, gesturing to a boat called Lady and the Tramp that took up nearly the whole floor space. It was the marine equivalent of a Ferrari, but ugly. ‘That’s a motor yacht,’ he said, ‘It’s a Silverton 43, so very current – twin Volvo engines –’


‘Safe,’ I suggested, rubbing my hands together.


He fiddled with his tie. He seemed uncomfortable with the adjective.


‘But check out her dangerous curves. There’s a salon on the main deck which features a convertible sofa, a loveseat for two, and an entertainment centre that totally rocks. And that killer cherry finishing is featured throughout in high-gloss with satin accents—’


‘Little Pat?’ I cut him off.


‘It’s been pre-loved, so it’s a regretful sale. A stockbroker. Finance is available.’ Then he paused. ‘What?’


‘You’re Little Pat, right? Pat Junior?’ I remembered him now, a little boy at the dinner table being scolded for pouring too much American mustard all over his plate. ‘I’m actually looking for your brother Danny.’


‘Oh, you are, are you?’ His tone went from flirtatious to a little wary.


‘I’m Erin Sloane. I used to go out with Danny. I came to dinner at your house, a few times.’


A slow, dippy grin spread over his face. While Danny was given a punching bag, karate lessons and therapy, and nerf balls and hand weights to squeeze to alleviate his anger, I remembered Pat as the complete opposite to his brother – sunny, hapless; kind of like a golden retriever.


‘The Erin Sloane? Holy shit, I remember you! Good to see ya. He’s in his office. First door on the right.’


I WALKED DOWN the polished concrete hallway and found the door ajar. Danny was on the phone. He put it down calmly. He mostly looked the same. I don’t know if I had expected him to. He’d had his teeth professionally whitened and there were some sun and smile lines around his eyes. His office was Scandinavian minimalist – the desk an ugly meadow yellow with two industrial lamps on either side, and framed pictures of who I gathered were his family. He had a Far Side calendar, which was a tell – I’d bet money his dad had one before him. It was as if he’d gathered information on how to emulate an adult male and then replicated it. The room was a statement that he had a clean bill of mental health now; a monument to his newfound normality. I’d always felt he had the emotional complexity of a Twinkie: pretty package, hard layer, gooey, radioactive centre. Now I knew that he was psychologically more complex and, thus, more toxic than ever.


‘Erin,’ he said, devoid of emotion. It was like I’d served him the wrong coffee and he was deciding whether he’d send it back.


I sat opposite him and picked up the framed photo: Madonna and child. ‘Is this . . .?’


His perfect jaw worked overtime. ‘My wife, Gina. And my daughter, Kelly.’


My middle name.


Gina looked Southern Italian and was prettier than me, but the similarity was unmistakable. We shared the same round face and apple-like cheeks, a nose that was slightly too wide and flat – only her black hair probably hadn’t come out of a bottle. Her eyes were very dark and seemed alive with joy in the picture, which drove a stake of pity into my heart. Danny’s kid was adorable and a mirror of her mother, but with Danny’s rosebud mouth.
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